
Agenda Item 8 
Finance & General Purposes Committee – 12th September 2022 

GRANT BUDGET UPDATE AND GRANT APPLICATIONS RECEIVED 

1. Report - Grant Budget Update and Grant Applications from Local Community Groups

Attached and included in main agenda document circulated for the Committee meeting. 

2. Applications for Consideration
3.

This Committee is requested to consider the following Grant Applications received: 

Grant 
Ref 
No 

Organisation 
Name & 
Charity Reg 
No 
If Applicable 

Purpose 
of award 

Current 
Grant 
Application 

Page 
number 

68 Baby 
Umbrella 

Cost of specialist support 
practitioner fees and venue costs 

£1,380 5 

73 Sevenoaks 
History Hub 

Contribution to publishing costs of 
book using historical photos and 
postcards of Sevenoaks, and oral 
history, to tell story of the town. 

£2,500 51 

11 Sevenoaks 
Counselling 

To supplement the Bursary Fund 
which assists clients who are unable 
to afford the recommended 
contribution. 

£1500 55 

62 West Kent 
Mind 

To deliver 10 x 3 hour mental health 
awareness workshops over 6 
months for residents of Sevenoaks 
Town 

£5,192 91 

43 D’Vine 
Singers 

Contribution to enable to meet at 
Sevenoaks venue and sing at 
community events. 

£500 199 

£11,072 
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Agenda Item No 8 
Sevenoaks Town Council 

Finance & General Purposes Committee – 12th September 2022 

Grant Budget Update and Grant Applications from Local Community Groups 

1. Budget – Grants to Local Voluntary Organisation 2022/23
The budget for grants to local voluntary organisations for 2022/23, and the balance to date is

as follows:

2. Application considered by Youth Services Committee
The following application is being considered at the meeting of the Youth Services Committee on

7th September 2022.  The outcome will be reported at the meeting of this Committee.

Grant 
Ref 
No 

Organisation 
Name & 
Charity Reg 
No 
If Applicable 

Purpose 
of award 

Previous grant 
history 

Grants 
2021/22 

Current 
Grant 
Application 

6 Sevenoaks 
Three Arts 
Festival 
Young 
Musician of 
the Year 

Towards cost of hire of 
venue and competition 
standard piano for the 
Young Musician 
competition  

2007 to 2020 
(Autumn) 
£500/£600 per 
year for prize 
for Young 
Musician of the 
Year 

13.09.2021 - 
£1000 for 
prize for 
Young 
Musician of 
the Year 

£600 

Budget 2022/23 July 2022/23 

Budget  Balance 

 £ £ 

Grant Subsidies Sevenoaks Community Centre 4,833 2,288 

Grant Subsidies Chamber * 1,000 900 

Local Organisations F & GP & Youth Support Services 

Of which Play Days £2,000 

12,000 7,000 

Sevenoaks Summer Festival 5,000 5,000 

Community Resilience Fund * 0 0 

Twinning Support 1,000 1,000 

Youth Outreach 3,887 3,887 

Youth Council Support 500 500 

Stag 27,000 0 

Community Rail Partnership 3,000 3,000 

Total 57,720 23,575 
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Grant 
Ref 
No 

Organisation 
Name & 
Charity Reg 
No 
If Applicable 

Purpose 
of award 

Previous grant 
history 

Grants 
2021/22 

Current 
Grant 
Application 

2007 to 2020 
(Spring) £600 
per year for hire 
of piano and 
performance 
space for 
Sevenoaks 
Three Arts 
Festival 

01.03.21 
£600 for admin 
costs, insurance, 
website etc for 
video only 
performing Arts 
Festival 

28.02.22 
£600 – Hire 
of Piano & 
performance 
space for 
Sevenoaks 
Three Arts 
Festival 

Total grant funding requested at YSC £600 

3. Applications for Consideration
This Committee is requested to consider the following Grant Applications received:

Grant 
Ref 
No 

Organisation 
Name & 
Charity Reg 
No 
If Applicable 

Purpose 
of award 

Previous grant 
history 

Grants 
2021/22 

Current 
Grant 
Application 

68 Baby 
Umbrella 

Cost of specialist support 
practitioner fees and 
venue costs 

March 22 -
£500 
Sept 21 - 
£500 

£1,380 

73 Sevenoaks 
History Hub 

Contribution to 
publishing costs of book 
using historical photos 
and postcards of 
Sevenoaks, and oral 
history, to tell story of 
the town. 

2018 - £2,000 
2014 - £2,000 

£2,500 

11 Sevenoaks 
Counselling 

To supplement the 
Bursary Fund which 
assists clients who are 

Funding since 
2005, between 

£1,500 £1500 
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RECOMMENDATION 

The Committee is asked to consider the grant applications detailed above. 

unable to afford the 
recommended 
contribution. 

£400 & £2000, 
including 
2019 - £1,500 
2020 - £1,500 

62 West Kent 
Mind 

To deliver 10 x 3 hour 
mental health awareness 
workshops over 6 
months for residents of 
Sevenoaks Town 

2019 - £4,000 
2020 - £900 

£5,192 

43 D’Vine 
Singers 

Contribution to enable to 
meet at Sevenoaks venue 
and sing at community 
events. 

2017/18 - £300 
2016/17 - £500 
2015/16 - £500 

£500 

Total grant funding requested £11,072 
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APPLICATION FOR GRANT AID 
NB – Grant recipients will be asked to provide a display stand at the Annual Town 

Meeting [Monday 13th March 2023 at 7pm] to demonstrate to the general public how 
the grant funds have been spent and the benefits accrued. 

A copy of the guidance notes for completing this form is attached.  You are advised to 
read this when completing the form. Please use BLOCK CAPITAL LETTERS 

PART 1 – YOUR ORGANISATION 

NAME OF ORGANISATION 
Baby Umbrella 

NAME OF CONTACT 
Laura Shtaingos 

ADDRESS OF CONTACT 

POSTCODE

TELEPHONE NO:     DAYTIME 

EVENING 

EMAIL ADDRESS 

PLEASE OUTLINE BRIEFLY THE ACTIVITIES OF THE ORGANISATION 

  

As above 

Baby Umbrella offers breastfeeding and early parenting support to families in West Kent. 
Our vision is for every family in West Kent to have access to skilled and compassionate 
support during their parenting journey. We are here to listen, support and empower 
parents to make the decisions that feel right for them and their babies. 

We offer free support from highly trained and experienced Lactation Consultants and 
Breastfeeding Counsellors in 3 locations every week of the year: Otford, Tonbridge and 
Tunbridge Wells, as well as Zoom. 

Document Ref: BFWDH-M6M7J-4AGVG-BMYAE Page 1 of 5
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Updated 17.06.22 

PLEASE GIVE NUMBERS IN YOUR 
ORGANISATION WHO ARE 

A) PAID 5 admin  
(0.5 FTE) 

B) VOLUNTEERS 25 

C) SIZE OF Sevenoaks Town
Council
MEMBERSHIP/BENEFICIARIES

121 

HOW MANY MEMBERS/BENEFICIARIES 
LIVE WITHIN SEVENOAKS TOWN 
[See Guidance Notes] 

PART 2 – GRANT REQUEST 

AMOUNT OF GRANT APPLIED FOR 

PLEASE DESCRIBE YOUR PROJECT 

PLEASE EXPLAIN FOR WHAT AND WHEN YOU WILL BE USING THE GRANT 

DOES YOUR PROJECT COVER A GEOGRAPHICAL AREA BEYOND THE PARISH OF SEVENOAKS 
TOWN COUNCIL?  See map attached at the back of this form                  Yes / No 

IF YES, HAVE YOU ALSO CONTACTED THE RESPECTIVE PARISH COUNCILS OUTSIDE THE 
SEVENOAKS TOWN WARDS FOR GRANT FUNDING?  Yes / No 

PLEASE PROVIDE DETAILS OF WHICH OTHER PARISH COUNCILS YOU HAVE CONTACTED AND 
SUMS REQUESTED & AWARDED: 

PART 3 – GEOGRAPHICAL AREA RELATING TO FUNDS REQUESTED 

121 

£1,380 

In the early days with a new baby, feeding problems are often urgent and overwhelming. 
40% of our initial bookings are made within 7 days of birth, and over two thirds of referrals 
come from NHS midwifery. 34% of have babies who are not latching, 35% are struggling 
with overwhelm, anxiety or tearfulness, 44% are in pain from feeding, and 37% are worried 
about baby’s weight gain. Baby Umbrella provides a safe haven for these vulnerable families. 

£1,380 would cover specialist support practitioner fees (Lactation Consultants and 
Breastfeeding Counsellors) and venue costs for 48 families to receive face to face sessions 
and 12 families to receive zoom appointments over 6 months between Sep 22 and Mar 23. 
From our historic data this is the number of Sevenoaks Town Council resident families we 
tend to see in 6 months and this money will go directly to supporting them. 

The following Parish Councils have been contacted within the last 6 months for 
funding for their residents to receive support: Southborough, Pembury, Paddock 
Wood, Kemsing, Otford, Seal, Rusthall, Capel, Cranbrook. £400 has been granted so 
far by Otford PC. 

Document Ref: BFWDH-M6M7J-4AGVG-BMYAE Page 2 of 5
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Updated 17.06.22 

PART 4 – TO BE COMPLETED BY ALL APPLICANTS 
 
HAS YOUR ORGANISATION APPLIED ELSEWHERE  
FOR A GRANT FOR THIS PROJECT 
 
IF YES, PLEASE GIVE DETAILS 
 
Many grants applied for but not for this specific geographical area 
 
 
 
YOU ARE INVITED TO GIVE ANY ADDITIONAL INFORMATION WHICH MIGHT ASSIST THE 
COUNCIL IN CONSIDERING THE APPLICATION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PLEASE STATE BALANCES IN HAND AT   
END OF LAST FINANCIAL YEAR 
 
HOW MANY MONTHS OPERATING COSTS  
DOES THIS REPRESENT? 
 
HOW MUCH HAS THE GROUP RAISED    
THROUGH ITS OWN EFFORTS 
EG. FUNDRAISING DURING THE LAST YEAR? 
 
PLEASE GIVE DETAILS OF ANY PREVIOUS GRANT AWARDS MADE BY SEVENOAKS TOWN 
COUNCIL INCLUDING THE YEARS IN WHICH THE GRANTS WERE MADE, THE AMOUNT 
AND WHETHER THEY WERE FOR CAPITAL OR REVENUE EXPENDITURE. 
 
 
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

YES/NO 

Please see attached 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

£15,219 
 

3 months 

£50,000 (10 months to end June) 

September 2021 - £500 (Revenue) 
March 2022 - £500 (Revenue) 

Document Ref: BFWDH-M6M7J-4AGVG-BMYAE Page 3 of 5
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Updated 17.06.22 

 
PLEASE ENSURE ALL RELEVANT DOCUMENTATION IS ENCLOSED WITH THIS 
APPLICATION 
CHECKLIST 
 
All relevant parts of the form completed x 
Form signed x 
Audited accounts for the last two years x 
Annual Report if available (or Project or Business Plan for a new organisation) x 
 
DO YOU HAVE A WRITTEN CONSTITUTION?   
(THE COUNCIL RESERVES THE RIGHT TO ASK FOR A COPY) 

YES/NO 

 
Copies of this completed form and any supporting papers will appear on a Council 

Agenda and will be discussed by Council in the presence of press and public. 
 

 
I DECLARE THAT TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE AND BELIEF THE ABOVE 
INFORMATION IS CORRECT.  I AGREE THAT IF A GRANT IS AWARDED*, I WILL SUBMIT 
A BRIEF REPORT CONFIRMING HOW THE MONEY HAS BEEN SPENT AND EXPLAINING 
WHAT DIFFERENCE THE GRANT MADE.  PHOTOS WILL BE SENT IF POSSIBLE. 
 
I UNDERSTAND THAT I CONFORM TO THE GUIDELINES SET OUT IN THE GUIDANCE 
NOTES AND HAVE READ AND SUBMITTED MY APPLICATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
THE GUIDANCE NOTES. 
 
SIGNATURE                           DATE 
 
NAME AND POSITION IN ORGANISATION: LAURA SHTAINGOS, DIRECTOR 
IN CAPITALS PLEASE 
 
* IN THE EVENT OF A SUCCESSFUL GRANT AID APPLICATION, PAYMENT WILL BE BY 

BANK TRANSFER. PLEASE PROVIDE DETAILS (this information will not be published): 
 
Bank  

 
 
All Application Forms must be signed (electronic signature acceptable). 
Please return this form to Alison Futtit, Sevenoaks Town Council, Council Offices, 
Bradbourne Vale Road, Sevenoaks, Kent TN13 3QG by the: 

 2nd Friday in August [12thAugust 2022] for the September Finance and General 
Purposes Grant Committee 

 2ND Friday in January [13th January 2023] for the February Finance and General 
Purposes Grant Committee  

NB Late applications will be reviewed at the following Grants meeting! 
Application Forms are also available by email from: council@sevenoakstown.gov.uk  

2022-08-02

Document Ref: BFWDH-M6M7J-4AGVG-BMYAE Page 4 of 5
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 What we do 

 Baby Umbrella offers breas�eeding and early paren�ng support to families in West Kent. Our 
 vision is for every family in West Kent to have access to skilled and compassionate support 
 during their paren�ng journey. We are here to listen, support and empower parents to make 
 the decisions that feel right for them and their babies. 

 The first year of paren�ng is a crucial �me for families and for infant development, building 
 strength and resilience for the years to come. Support services for new families have shrunk 
 drama�cally over the past 20 years, and even more so during COVID. We are seeing the 
 impact of this with increasing mental health difficul�es for parents and problems for children 
 se�ling into school. 

 In the early days with a new baby, feeding problems are o�en urgent and overwhelming. 
 40% of our ini�al bookings are made within 7 days of birth, and over two thirds of referrals 
 come from NHS midwifery. 34% of our visitors are struggling with babies not latching, 35% 
 are struggling with overwhelm, anxiety or tearfulness, 44% are in pain from feeding, and 
 37% are worried about their baby’s weight gain. Baby Umbrella provides a safe haven for 
 these vulnerable families. 

 Our history 

 Baby Umbrella charity was founded in August 2020 by Jennie Yelverton, Karen McCully and 
 Laura Shtaingos, who have worked in infant feeding support in West Kent for a total of 20 
 years. Under Baby Umbrella we have brought together the breas�eeding support services 
 formerly run by Baby Café (NCT Charity) in Tunbridge Wells and Kent Baby Ma�ers/ PS 
 Breas�eeding in Sevenoaks and Tonbridge. At Baby Umbrella, parents can now access 
 seamless support in West Kent in 3 physical loca�ons as well as online every week. 

 Kent Baby Ma�ers/ PS Breas�eeding con�nues to provide breas�eeding support services in 
 East Kent, as well as a Kent-wide sling library, cloth nappy library and breast-pump hire. We 
 work in partnership with KBM/ PSB to offer both our services at the same �me from our 
 Baby Umbrella venues. Karen McCully con�nues to work for KBM/ PSB as well as Baby 
 Umbrella. 

 Baby Umbrella and Sevenoaks Town Council 

 The Parish of Sevenoaks Town Council (STC) is a key area for our charity, with STC residents 
 accoun�ng for around 9% of our support visits (121 families = approx 300 beneficiaries) each 
 year (at a district level 27% are from Sevenoaks, 25% from Tonbridge and Malling, and 34% 
 from Tunbridge Wells). Unfortunately we have been unable to find a cost effec�ve venue 
 within Sevenoaks Town, so our Sevenoaks support loca�on is currently sited within O�ord 
 Village Memorial Hall - 60% of our STC resident visitors travel to O�ord, with a further 20% 
 travelling to Tonbridge and 20% op�ng for zoom support. 

Document Ref: BFWDH-M6M7J-4AGVG-BMYAE Page 5 of 5
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Welcome from our Chair of
Trustees and Founders

The UK has one of the worst breastfeeding

rates in the world . While around 81% of1

mothers begin breastfeeding their babies,

this figure rapidly drops to only 55% who

are still breastfeeding at six weeks and

34% at six months .2

The WHO recommends breastfeeding for

2 years and beyond , and evidence shows3

that over 80% of mothers who stopped

breastfeeding would have liked to have

continued for longer, citing that more

support could have helped2.

For too many women, trying to breastfeed

without support, or stopping before they

want to, is deeply upsetting, and many of

these mothers feel excluded from any

support services which do exist as soon as

they introduce formula. Many families feel

desperate, alone and isolated, and unsure

of where to turn to for help.

Baby Umbrella was formed to meet this

need. Our vision is for every family in West

Kent to have access to skilled and

compassionate support during their

parenting journey. We are here to listen,

support and empower parents to make

the decisions that feel right for them and

their babies.

This year we have brought together the

existing breastfeeding support groups

3 WHO Recommendations

2 UK Infant Feeding Survey 2010

1 Lancet Breastfeeding Series 2016

running in Sevenoaks, Tonbridge and

Tunbridge Wells to form a cohesive

support system that parents can trust. We

typically support between 30-40 families

every week with the transition to

parenting.

Much of that support is practical and

emotional support with breastfeeding and

bottle-feeding. We also enable parents to

make crucial social connections in their

local communities, building a web of

support for the parenting years ahead. We

are building the capability to support

parents with their mental wellbeing,

which we know has suffered so much

during the COVID pandemic.

The parents who walk through our doors

are often desperate and tearful, their first

vulnerable steps as new parents at risk.

We aim to send every single family out the

door feeling listened to, supported, and

having made their own plan about how

they would like to proceed.

In a world where parents are often left

feeling frazzled and unsupported, we aim

to provide an oasis where they are lifted

up, allowing them to focus on the

important job of raising the next

generation.

Baby Umbrella (Charity Reg: 1190745) Annual Report and Accounts 2020-21 3
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“I cried with relief after my first session with this

group… life as a new parent under lockdown is

incredibly isolating… this group was one of the only

chances I’ve had to meet other parents and get (and

give) some much needed support.”

- Zoom group attendee, 2021

“During a hugely emotional and sleep deprived week,

this was exactly what I needed… It made me realise

the theory that we're missing out during lockdown is so

very real, and this went a long way to filling a void

Covid mums are experiencing. Thank you!”

- “Let’s Talk” Zoom discussion attendee, 2021

“Fantastic help and clarity on my child’s feeding, given

a lovely warm welcome too… am very pleased such a

charity exists otherwise I’m unsure what I could’ve done

as the children’s centres for walk in breastfeeding

advice are closed.”

- In person 1-1 appointment attendee, 2021

Baby Umbrella (Charity Reg: 1190745) Annual Report and Accounts 2020-21 4
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Our impact in numbers

Running full services for 4 ½ months1

536 families made contact with us

- 374 booked for some kind of support

- 313 made an individual appointment

44% of families booked for support more than once

469 individual appointments completed

47 face to face sessions run

194 visits to a group support setting

772 individuals in our closed Facebook group

354 volunteer hours donated to support families

________________________

1 20 April 2021 - 31 August 2021

Baby Umbrella (Charity Reg: 1190745) Annual Report and Accounts 2020-21 5
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What we do
Our charity was formed in August 2020 to

provide breastfeeding and early parenting

support services across West Kent.

Our founders Jennie Yelverton, Karen

McCully and Laura Shtaingos have worked

in infant feeding support in West Kent for

a total of 20 years. We are passionate

about providing evidence-based,

compassionate, empowering support for

families.

Under Baby Umbrella we have brought

together the breastfeeding support

services formerly run by Baby Café in

Tunbridge Wells and Kent Baby Matters in

Sevenoaks and Tonbridge. As Baby

Umbrella, parents can now access

seamless support in 3 physical locations as

well as online every week.

We support families with breastfeeding,

bottle feeding, expressing, introducing

solids, and adjusting to parenthood.

During the pandemic we have maintained

face to face support as well as Zoom,

Facebook and messenger/ email support.

We have moved our group and social

support to Zoom when necessary to

enable parents to meet during lockdowns.

The skills and expertise of our

practitioners and volunteers is at the heart

of what we do. We have formed a strong

team of skilled practitioners with over 100

years of experience in diverse specialisms.

We also train and support volunteer

Breastfeeding Peer Supporters, many of

whom began by visiting us as new

mothers themselves.

We launched our online services on 22nd

February 2021 and added face to face

services on 20th April 2021. Since then we

have supported families in 469 face to

face appointments, 194 visits to group

support and many more via social media

and messages.

Baby Umbrella (Charity Reg: 1190745) Annual Report and Accounts 2020-21 6
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Vision, Mission and Values

Vision

Our vision is for every family in West Kent

to have access to skilled and

compassionate support during their

parenting journey

Mission

We listen, support and empower parents

and babies

Values

We are compassionate, evidence based

and inclusive

Baby Umbrella (Charity Reg: 1190745) Annual Report and Accounts 2020-21 7
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Our strategic aims and plan

Our strategic aims

1. Provide free-of-charge, timely access to skilled support on breastfeeding

and early parenting across West Kent

2. Improve knowledge and confidence in breastfeeding and early parenting

among parents, supporters and allied professionals

3. Connect the dots between services for parents in the area through

signposting, collaboration and team building

4. Reach a diverse and inclusive population reflective of the community we

serve

Our plan to enable our strategy

Phase 1: Charity Setup (2020-21)
1. Register the charity, recruit a full trustee board and establish governance

2. Build an online presence: website and social media

3. Begin fundraising and build a balance to run services from

4. Bring breastfeeding support run by Baby Café in Tunbridge Wells and

Kent Baby Matters in Sevenoaks and Tonbridge under the Baby Umbrella

charity and brand

Phase 2: Stabilising, optimising and deepening our offer (2021-22

onwards)

1. Diversify income stream to improve funding stability

2. Optimise current operations to most effectively meet the needs of

local families

3. Broaden and deepen support to better meet client needs

4. Build links for collaboration and signposting

Baby Umbrella (Charity Reg: 1190745) Annual Report and Accounts 2020-21 8
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Our finances 2020-21: Summary

Source of income

Summary of expenditure

Baby Umbrella (Charity Reg: 1190745) Annual Report and Accounts 2020-21 9
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Our year in review

Phase 1: Charity Setup

In August 2020, we began the financial year with big ambitions for our newly registered

charity. Autumn 2020 saw us recruit five additional trustees to join our existing three

founding trustees and our board of trustees now includes experience in operations, finance,

HR, legal, fundraising, marketing, lactation and midwifery, medicine and charity governance.

Our board is now well established and meeting quarterly, with additional meetings as

required with specific trustees and the management committee. We also recruited two

individuals to join our professional panel, with expertise in NHS tongue tie provision; and

mental health and counselling.

Governance and Management Structure

Autumn/ Winter also saw the launch of our online presence in the form of a mobile

responsive website, and our social media channels including Facebook,  LinkedIn, Twitter

and Instagram.

We began fundraising in earnest to build a balance of funds before we transitioned the

existing services run by Baby Café in Tunbridge Wells and Kent Baby Matters in Sevenoaks

and Tonbridge under the Baby Umbrella charity and brand. We applied for 32 grants over

the year for a total of £113,000 of funding. Of those grants already decided we have had a

success rate of 46%.  We have also run seven fundraising events both online and offline over

the course of the year, as well as offering various ways for our clients to donate when they

access our services.

Baby Umbrella (Charity Reg: 1190745) Annual Report and Accounts 2020-21 10
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In February 2021 our balances allowed us to successfully migrate services formerly running

under Baby Café Tunbridge Wells (which were at that point online only) to Baby Umbrella, at

the same time launching a new online booking system through Acuity. By April 2021 we

were ready to migrate the Kent Baby Matters Sevenoaks and Tonbridge services under the

charity. In April we also took the opportunity to re-launch face to face breastfeeding support

in Tunbridge Wells. At this point, Phase 1 and our first four aims for the year were complete,

and with a huge sense of achievement we could pause to take a breath as we focused on

bedding in the services and processes and communicating the change to all our

stakeholders.

Our first year: milestones

Baby Umbrella (Charity Reg: 1190745) Annual Report and Accounts 2020-21 11
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Our team

Our practitioners

Our team of 8 practitioners have over 100 years of combined experience supporting families

with breastfeeding and early parenting. All our practitioners are trained and licenced as

either "Lactation Consultants" or "Breastfeeding Counsellors" by recognised breastfeeding

organisations. Many have additional training in related sectors such as Midwifery, Nutrition,

Antenatal Education, Babywearing, Infant Sleep and Perinatal Mental Health.

Our Peer Supporters and Volunteers

We have 20 trained Baby Umbrella Breastfeeding

Peer Supporters. These are volunteers who have

breastfed their own babies and completed 12 weeks

of accredited training in Breastfeeding Peer Support.

Peer support is recommended by the World Health

Organization and forms part of UK NICE guidance on

maternal and child nutrition. Our Peer Supporters

have volunteered 252 hours for us during this

financial year, offering breastfeeding support and

information to families at our social groups.

We also have 13 additional volunteers who help us

host and run our face to face sessions. These

volunteers provide a crucial warm welcome when

parents walk through the door, sometimes just

hours or days after giving birth and at a time which

Baby Umbrella (Charity Reg: 1190745) Annual Report and Accounts 2020-21 13

22

http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/42590/1/9241562218.pdf?ua=1&ua=1
http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/42590/1/9241562218.pdf?ua=1&ua=1
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph11
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ph11


can often feel very vulnerable.  They ensure everyone is looked after and offered a hot drink

and slice of cake, as well as completing all our paperwork and making sure everything runs

smoothly. These generous people have contributed 102 hours of their time this financial

year.

Behind the scenes, there are also some special people volunteering their time to our graphic

design, marketing and bookkeeping. We highly appreciate their generosity!

Our services

Individual specialist support for families

Since the end of April, we have offered individual appointments with our Breastfeeding

Specialists on Zoom and in person at three locations every week, only pausing for Bank

Holidays. We also answer emails and messages from families looking for information on

breastfeeding and early parenting.

In the 20 weeks we have been offering face to face appointments this financial year, we have

completed 404 individual appointments with families. We have also completed 65 individual

Zoom appointments over 28 weeks, having launched these slightly earlier in late February.

Specialist support appointment - 2021

Baby Umbrella (Charity Reg: 1190745) Annual Report and Accounts 2020-21 14
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In person appointments and Zoom appointments cover a wide range of reasons parents

might be having problems. There tends to be a preference for practical support with

positioning in person, and emotional support or issues with unhappy babies or low weight

gain on Zoom. COVID has taught us that online support successfully reaches a specific set of

parents who might struggle physically or emotionally to come to an in-person session.

We are in the very early phases of evaluating the appointments we provide, and the initial

results are excellent. 91% of respondents tell us that compared to before the appointment,

their confidence with feeding and early parenting has improved. 100% of respondents were

likely or very likely to recommend the service to others.

Baby Umbrella (Charity Reg: 1190745) Annual Report and Accounts 2020-21 15
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“So grateful for the opportunity to speak to an expert

face to face. Someone who takes a look at you feeding

and improves latch. Also someone who provides

reassurance on what normal baby behaviour is like in

the first few weeks. Really grateful for this and the

wonderful ladies giving up their time to help.”

- In person 1-1 appointment attendee, 2021

“Breastfeeding counsellor was very supportive, let me

go at my own pace, and made a real effort to

understand my issues and where I was coming from as I

was finding breastfeeding to be quite emotive. I now

feed my newborn using a much more comfortable

position.”

- Zoom 1-1 appointment attendee, 2021

“So happy. Andrea was amazing and definitely helped

me and my son in working on a more natural position

for breastfeeding. I felt so comfortable and it has

certainly increased my confidence and ability to feed

my son without pain or discomfort.”

- Zoom 1-1 appointment attendee, 2021
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Social support for families

One of the things we were unable to provide during much of the year due to COVID has

been in-person social groups. This is a huge part of what parents say they need in the early

days, and so during lockdown we trialled a weekly Zoom group. The group started in October

2020 under Baby Café Tunbridge Wells and transferred to Baby Umbrella in late February

2021.

From our Zoom group participants, we heard loud and clear every week what a beacon of

hope this group was amongst the isolation, anxiety and overwhelm of a winter lockdown

with a young baby. 100% of our surveyed participants reported feeling less lonely and

isolated, more connected to their local community, less anxious, and more confident with

feeding their baby.

As lockdown eased and baby groups started to slowly return, we phased out the Zoom group

and in May we launched face to face social groups in all of our locations running alongside

appointments. Our trained Breastfeeding Peer Supporters attend all of these sessions and

support our mums with questions on normal breastfeeding and life with a baby. It has taken

time for these groups to build again but by the end of the summer it was fantastic to once

again see a thriving group of mums and babies sharing anecdotes about nappies, sleep and

feeding!

Social group support - April 2021

Alongside the social groups, we also run a Facebook page sharing relevant information about

breastfeeding and early parenting, a closed Facebook group offering a safe place for local

mothers to connect and ask questions, and a WhatsApp group for each of our locations

where families can arrange to meet up during the week and ask questions of each other.
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Parent education

In late February we received funding to run a pilot project called “Let’s talk”. The theme was

around connecting parents through topic-led Zoom discussion groups. We aimed to reduce

loneliness and isolation in the midst of a winter lockdown, as well as improve the knowledge

parents had in six key topic areas. We ran six discussions as follows:

- Let’s talk about… Breastfeeding

- Let’s talk about… Life with a newborn

- Let’s talk about… Unhappy babies

- Let’s talk about… Babies and sleep

- Let’s talk about… Parenting in a pandemic

- Let’s talk about… 4-6 month babies

The 4-6 month sessions and Sleep sessions were very popular and clearly met a need for

more information and support on these topics and stages. Parents told us that the groups

were particularly effective for: Reducing feelings of loneliness/ isolation (100% agreed);

Gaining confidence as a parent (100% agreed) and improving mood (100% agreed).

We have not run any more topic-led groups since migrating the full service breastfeeding

and early parenting groups and appointments to Baby Umbrella, but we hope to return to

these in due course to give parents another way to gain support and information.
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“The group has been incredibly supportive for me in

lockdown. It's so hard figuring out what babies are

doing and the leaders and mums in the group help us

navigate our way through. I get an enormous feeling of

connecting with  other mothers even if it is on Zoom.

This group makes us all feel a bit less lonely, isolated

and broken. I always come away from it feeling

uplifted.”

- Zoom group at Teignmouth ndee, 2021

“This session gave me an opportunity to reflect on my

breastfeeding journey and see how far my baby and I

have come. It also helped me to speak to others who

have had similar experiences so I don't feel so alone in

the challenges that we face.”

- “Let’s Talk” Zoom discussion attendee, 2021

“Attending the Lets talk session really helped me to feel

connected with other Mums, reassured and looking

forward to things to come”

- “Let’s Talk” Zoom discussion attendee, 2021
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Fundraising

It has been a difficult year to start a new charity, with COVID bringing challenges both for our

service delivery and to our ability to fundraise. As a new charity without a track record of

financial reports we have also been restricted in terms of which grants we are eligible to

apply for.

Despite this, we have been successful at raising £22,256 from trusts and foundations as well

as £12,731 from individual donors, and £1,624 from fundraising events which have been

extremely restricted due to COVID regulations.

67% of our revenue in 2020-21 was in the form of unrestricted funds, allowing us flexibility

to allocate funds to services most in need, and those that are harder to fund.

2021-22 brings an even greater challenge, as we seek to almost double the amount raised to

£60,000 in order to run a full set of services for an entire 12 months, as well as explore some

additional services desperately needed by parents.

If you feel you can help us meet this fundraising challenge in whatever way, large or small,

please get in touch at info@babyumbrella.org.uk.

Grants

Our main source of income is from charitable trusts and foundations and we have been

successful in gaining the support of various trusts over the past year.

We would like to extend our thanks to the following trusts that have generously supported

us this year:

The National Lottery

Sevenoaks District

Council

Comic Relief Community

Fund

The National Lottery and

The Department for

Digital, Culture, Media &

Sport (DCMS)

Tesco Sevenoaks

Arnold Clark

Involve Connect Well

The Tunbridge Wells

Soroptimists

The Cole Charitable Trust

West Kent Housing

Association: Linda Hogan

Community fund
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Donations

Building individual donations is a key part of our strategy for the coming year. In our first

year we have made a large range of donation routes available for our clients and donors,

enabling donation at booking, in person at our face to face services, via text, QR code, or

online. However, this has been a difficult landscape for seeking donations, with many of our

clients facing high levels of uncertainty in their daily lives and economic circumstances.

We would particularly like to thank Christ Church Tunbridge Wells who gave us a donation in

kind, worth £1,160 of rent, between May to August 2021.

We run various fundraising events throughout the year and these often serve a dual purpose

as a chance for families to get together or try something new while supporting us at the

same time.

Fundraising events

This year has been tricky for events due to the restrictions on social gatherings, but we have

still managed to run a Walkathon, a Lavender Family Photography Raffle, a Unicorn

Danceathon, Father’s Day Handprint Mug making, and a Zoom Poetry Evening. We look

forward to organising events in 2022, however this will be entirely dependent on the

development of the pandemic and governmental guidelines.

Fundraising event: Unicorn Danceathon in April 2021
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Looking forward to 2021-22
Our strategic aims for 2021-22 continue to be:

1. Provide free-of-charge, timely access to skilled support on breastfeeding and

early parenting across West Kent

2. Improve knowledge and confidence in breastfeeding and early parenting among

parents, supporters and allied professionals

3. Connect the dots between services for parents in the area through signposting,

collaboration and team building

4. Reach a diverse and inclusive population reflective of the community we serve

Year 1 has necessarily been about setting up the charity and as we now move into a more

stable phase of running the operation, we are changing our focus from “build” to “optimise”

in Phase 2.

Phase 2: Stabilising, optimising and deepening our offer

1. Diversify income stream to improve funding stability

2. Optimise current operations to most effectively meet the needs of families

3. Broaden and deepen support to better meet client needs

4. Build links for collaboration and signposting

For the coming year 2021-22, we will focus primarily on steps 1 and 2:

1. Diversify income stream to improve funding stability

Our highest priority for the year is to deliver a step change in our funding model leading to

more stability and a higher level of reserves for the charity to weather the unpredictable

funding environment. We will be committing resources to enhance our fundraising capacity:

assessing and improving our processes for applying to trusts and foundations, investigating

NHS and governmental funding avenues, building a clearer strategy for individual donor

activation and fundraising events, as well as exploring online fundraising and support from

corporates. We will also be investigating additional aligned commercial activities to

supplement our income.
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2. Optimise current operations to most effectively meet the needs of families

In conjunction with improving our fundraising capability, we also have some evaluation to do

of our existing services.  During the pandemic we have adapted many aspects of our services

to work even better than pre-COVID, but there may also be things we have lost; our

evaluation will address this and allow us to improve, adapt and optimise. As the charity

grows, we aim to build a clearer picture of the operational structure, resources and systems

we need to meet this. We are a lean operation, but we are always looking for ways to be

more effective and make every penny count. We plan to improve our model of support for

our Practitioners, Peer Supporters and Volunteers – we believe a supported workforce is a

safer workforce and supports parents most effectively.  Alongside this work, we intend to

assess how well we are reaching everyone who needs support within our community and

think creatively about changes we can make to improve inclusion.

As we move into 2022-23 we will begin the “broaden” and “deepen” sections of our plan.

Our clients have told us they have additional needs in early parenting that are currently

underserved, particularly in the areas of postnatal mental and physical wellbeing; and

evidence based support with infant sleep. As we broaden and deepen the services we offer

families, building collaboration and partnerships with other third sector organisations as well

as commercial and governmental bodies will be crucial.
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Financial Results
Summary

During our first year of operation the

charity raised £36,611 and spent £18,665.

After allowing for the allocation of the

appropriate expenditure in the year

against restricted funds, a surplus of

£15,515 of reserves of which £15,219 was

available as free reserves (excluding fixed

assets).

Unrestricted funds

The charity raised £24,646 of general or

unrestricted income. Expenditure of

£9,131 was set against this, leaving a

surplus of £15,515.

Restricted funds

A total of £11,965 of restricted income

was received in our first year of operation.

Expenditure of £9,534 was set against this

leaving an amount of £2,431 to carry

forward to fund restricted activities next

year.

Sources of income

£22,256 was received from grants and

trusts, £12,732 from individual donors and

£1,624 from fundraising events.

Expenditure

Our main expenditure is on practitioner

fees (see Note 5) to run our client-facing

charitable activities; with additional costs

in rent for in-person services (these

services were only fully operational for the

final 4.5 months of the reporting year,

from 20th April 2021). We also incurred

costs for admin support and fundraising.

Reserves Policy

The Board of Trustees has agreed a

reserves policy whereby the unrestricted

funds not committed or invested in

tangible fixed assets (the ‘free reserves’)

held by the charity should provide

sufficient funds to cover at least 3 months

of full-scale operation. We anticipate that

3 months will give the board adequate

time to come together and appeal for

additional funding from both Trusts and

Individual Donors. At 31 August 2021

three months of full-scale operation

equates to £13,900, leaving a buffer of

£1,319 out of total free reserves of

£15,219.

If our buffer were to drop below this level

we are able to quickly scale back

appointments and staffing costs until such

time as we have secured additional

funding.

As a new charity we aim to manage risk

appropriately in regards to our

unrestricted reserve, which we hope to

build upon in the coming year to provide

security against the volatile funding

environment.

Investment Policy

Our funds are currently held in a current

account at HSBC, with a small amount at

PayPal.
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Fundraising Policy

We aim for best practice in fundraising to

ensure our donors feel safe, valued and

well supported, taking care that our

fundraising activities are within the WHO

Code for the Marketing of Breastmilk

Substitutes as well as adhering to the

Fundraising Regulator and other

professional fundraising bodies.

We never buy or sell people’s personal

information and we work hard to respect

people’s wishes about how they want us

to communicate with them. We have

embedded the General Data Protection

Regulation into the way we work.

We do not use cold calling or cold mailing

to raise funds and do not employ external

companies to fundraise on our behalf. We

voluntarily meet the standards set by the

Fundraising Regulator (we plan to register

in 2022) and we have received no

complaints about fundraising in 2020-21.

Donors, funders and fundraisers

The Trustees would like to thank all trusts,

organisations and individuals who

generously supported the work of Baby

Umbrella. With your support we’ve been

able to make a huge difference to the lives

of families who come to us at one of the

most vulnerable times of their lives.
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Legal and
Administrative
Information
The Trustees present their annual report

for Baby Umbrella CIO for the year ended

31 August 2021.

The financial statements comply with the

Charities Act 2011 and Accounting and

Reporting by Charities: Statement of

Recommended Practice applicable to

charities preparing their accounts in

accordance with the Financial Report

Standard applicable in the UK and

Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) issued

October 2019 (effective 1 January 2019).

Status

Baby Umbrella is a registered charity

(CIO), charity number 1190745, registered

in England and Wales.

Trustee Board

The members of the Board during the year

were:

Ema Saunders - Chair

Alissa Brumby

Alison Day

Bronwen Edwards - Secretary

Chloe Gastrell

Jane Gerard-Pearse

Nicola Kirkwood

Hope Maguire - Treasurer

Management Committee

The members of the Management

Committee during the year were:

Jennifer Yelverton

Karen McCully

Laura Shtaingos

Principal Office

51 The Avenue, Tunbridge Wells, TN2 3FJ

Independent Examiner

DA Coffey & Associates, 2nd Floor, 34

Cambridge Road, Hastings, East Sussex,

TN34 1DT
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Objectives
The objectives of the CIO are:

The advancement of health for the public

interest by providing easily accessible

skilled support for postnatal physical and

mental health in and around West Kent.

1) By providing open access community

groups with skilled, non-judgemental

professionals (including Lactation

Consultants and Breastfeeding

Counsellors) and trained volunteers in

order to support breastfeeding and

parenting, reduce postnatal social

isolation, and improve postnatal

mental health;

2) By providing education, training and

volunteering opportunities, building

expertise within the sector and supporting

parents to increase confidence and return

to work;

3) By working in partnership with NHS,

Local Authority, Third Sector and Private

Sector services to ensure continuity of

parent-centred responsive care;

4) By increasing accessibility and

inclusivity of support services to address

inequality.

Public Benefit
We have referred to the guidance

contained in the Charity Commission’s

general guidance on public benefit when

reviewing our aims and objectives and in

planning future activities. In particular, the

Trustees have considered how planned

activities will contribute to the aims and

objectives they have set. Our activities

are set out in more detail elsewhere in

this report but in summary, we provide

breastfeeding and early parenting support

in three physical locations as well as

online and through social media and

messages every week, and have provided

group social support in person and online

to enable parents to meet.  These are in

the public interest and benefit parents

and new parents in particular.

Governance
and
Management
Board of Trustees

Members of the Trustee Board who

served during the year and up to the date

of this report, are set out on the previous

page. The total number of Trustees was

eight.

The Trustee Board is responsible and

accountable for Baby Umbrella’s policies

and activities to the Charity Commission,

to Funders and beneficiaries, and for

compliance with charity law. It is

responsible for the financial and strategic

affairs of the charity, for the Annual

Budget and the Annual Report and

Accounts.
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Diversity

We are committed to ensuring our

services are accessible to, and accessed

by, all parents in need of them.  One of

our priorities for the coming year is to

assess and monitor diversity of the

beneficiaries of Baby Umbrella so that if

the services are not being accessed

equally we can put in place measures to

address this.

Trustee Recruitment

Appointment to the board of Trustees

continues to be via an open and formal

recruitment process.  Every trustee must

be appointed for a term of between two

and five years by a resolution passed at a

properly convened meeting of the charity

trustees.

Trustee Induction and Training

An induction programme is in place for

new Trustees. Any training needs may be

identified for both new and established

Trustees in collaboration with the Chair

of Trustees.

Trustee Meetings

The Trustees meet as a full Board 4 times

a year. The Trustees also hold an Annual

Strategic Away Day which includes the

Management Committee.

Management Committee

The Management Committee is

responsible for the day-to-day delivery of

the activities and services of Baby

Umbrella.  It meets formally six times a

year as well as working collaboratively on

a day-to-day basis. The Management

Committee is accountable to the Board of

Trustees and presents regular reports

against the charity’s agreed strategic aims

and plan.

Risk

The Trustees reviewed the risks to which

the charity could be exposed and are

satisfied that the charity has taken all

reasonable steps to minimise risk and that

it has policies and procedures in place to

manage risk effectively in all areas of the

charity’s work. The key risks were

identified as follows:

Principal risks – Financial Solvency

Steps to mitigate:

Ensure sufficient reserves to cover orderly

wind-down.

Quarterly review of Management

Accounts and Forecasts.

Flexible operating model, few fixed costs

Plans in place for continued diversification

of funding.

Ongoing liaison with current and potential

funders.

Principal risks – Insufficient resourcing

Steps to mitigate:

Engage and support a wide bank of

trained professionals.

Develop a pipeline of talent.

Add admin support resources to ensure

professionals are focused on high impact

work.

Principal risks - Operational risk from

pandemic

Steps to mitigate:

Maintain and develop online services to

switch to online at short notice if

necessary.
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Maintain policies in line with regulations.

Maintain up to date risk assessments

regarding infection risk.

Principal risks – Inadequate safeguarding

Steps to mitigate:

All front line practitioners, Peer

Supporters and Volunteers undertake

safeguarding training every 2 years.

Safeguarding policy in place.

Principal risks – Failure to meet quality

standards

Steps to mitigate:

Recognised qualifications and/ or training

for front line staff.

Supervision and support for front line

staff.

£10million Public Liability Insurance in

place.

£10million Professional Indemnity

Insurance in place.

The Trustees are required by charity law to

prepare financial statements for each year

which give a true and fair view of the state

of affairs of the charity and of the surplus

or deficit of the charity for that year. In

preparing these financial statement, the

Trustees are required to:-

(a) Select suitable accounting policies and

then apply them consistently;

(b) Make judgements and estimates that

are reasonable and prudent;

(c) Prepare the financial statements on a

on going concern basis unless it is

inappropriate to presume that the Charity

will continue in operation;

(d) State whether the policies adopted are

in accordance with the Charities Act 2011

and with applicable accounting standards

and Statements of Recommended

Practice, subject to any material departure

disclosed and explained in the financial

statements;

(e) Observe the methods and principles of

the Charities SORP.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping

proper accounting records which disclose

with reasonable accuracy at any time the

financial position of the charity and to

ensure that the financial statements

comply with the Charities Act.

The Trustees are also responsible for

safeguarding the assets of the charity and

hence for taking reasonable steps for the

prevention and detection of fraud and

other irregularities.

The Trustees confirm they have referred to

the guidance contained in the Charity

Commission's general guidance on the

public benefit when reviewing the

charity's aims and objectives and in

planning future activities.

Approved by the Board of Trustees on

26th Jan 2022 and signed on its behalf by

Ema Saunders (Chair)

Hope Maguire (Treasurer)
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Independent Examiner’s Report to
the Trustees of Baby Umbrella
I report to the charity trustees on my examination of the accounts of Baby Umbrella for the

year ended 31 August 2021.

Responsibilities and basis of report

As the charity's trustees, you are responsible for the preparation of the accounts in

accordance with the requirements of the Charities Act 2011 (“the Act”).

I report in respect of my examination of the Charity’s accounts carried out under section 145

of the 2011 Act and in carrying out my examination, I have followed all the applicable

Directions given by the Charity Commission under section 145(5)(b) of the Act.

Independent Examiners Statement

I have completed my examination.  I confirm that no material matters have come to my

attention in connection with the examination which gives me cause to believe that in, any

material respect:

● the accounting records were not kept in accordance with section 130 of the Charities

Act; or

● the accounts did not accord with the accounting records; or

● the accounts did not comply with the applicable requirements concerning the form

and content of accounts set out in the Charities (Accounts and Reports) Regulations

2008 other than any requirement that the accounts give a ‘true and fair’ view which

is not a matter considered as part of an independent examination.

I have no concerns and have come across no other matters in connection with the

examination to which attention should be drawn in this report in order to enable a proper

understanding of the accounts to be reached.

Signed: Date:

Leonora Crawley ACIE

DA Coffey & Associates

Second Floor, 34 Cambridge Road

Hastings

East Sussex

TN35 4NN
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Statement of Financial Activities

For the period ended 31 August 2021

Unrestricted
funds

Restricted
income
funds

Total
funds

Notes £ £ £
Income

Donations and legacies 3 23,022 11,965 34,987
Other trading activities 1,624 - 1,624

Total 24,646 11,965 36,611

Expenditure

Raising funds 900 - 900

Charitable activities 5 8,231 9,534 17,764

Total 9,131 9,534 18,665

   
Net income/(expenditure) and net
movement in funds 15,515 2,431 17,946

Reconciliation of
funds:    
Total funds brought forward - - -

Total funds carried forward 15,515 2,431 17,946

The charity was incorporated and commenced trading on 6 August 2020.

The statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year.
All income and expenditure derive from continuing activities.
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Balance Sheet
As at 31 August 2021

Unrestricted
funds

Restricted
income
funds

Total this
year

Notes £ £ £

Fixed assets

Intangible assets 7 296 - 296

Total fixed assets 296 - 296

Current assets

Debtors - prepayments 409 314 723

Cash at bank and in hand 17,273 3,067 20,340

Total current assets 17,682 3,381 21,063

Creditors: amounts falling due
within one year 8 (2,463) (950) (3,413)

Net current assets 15,219 2,431 17,650

Total assets less current liabilities 15,515 2,431 17,946

Total net assets 15,515 2,431 17,946

Funds of the Charity

Restricted income funds 9 - 2,431 2,431

Unrestricted funds 10 15,515 - 15,515

Total funds 15,515 2,431 17,946

The notes on pages 34 to 40 form part of these accounts.
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Approved by the Trustees on 26th January 2022 and signed on their behalf by:

Ema Saunders
(Chair)

Hope Maguire
(Treasurer)
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Notes to the accounts
1 Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the accounts are as follows:

Basis of preparation and assessment of going concern

The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention with items
recognised at cost or transaction value unless otherwise stated in the relevant note to these
accounts. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the second
edition of the Charities Statement of Recommended Practice issued in October 2019, the
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland (FRS
102) and the Charities Act 2011.

The trustees consider that there are no material uncertainties about the charity’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The trust constitutes a public benefit entity as defined by FRS 102.

Funds

Unrestricted income funds comprise those funds which the trustees are free to use for any
purpose in furtherance of the charitable objects. Unrestricted funds include designated
funds where the trustees, at their discretion, have created a fund for a specific purpose.

Restricted funds are funds which are to be used in accordance with specific restrictions
imposed by the donor or trust deed.

Further details of each fund are disclosed in note 9.

Income recognition
All income is recognised once the charity has entitlement to the income, it is probable that
the income will be received, and the amount of income receivable can be measured reliably.

Donations are recognised when the charity has been notified in writing of both the amount
and settlement date. In the event that a donation is subject to conditions that require a level
of performance before the charity is entitled to the funds, the income is deferred and not
recognised until either those conditions are fully met, or the fulfilment of those conditions is
wholly within the control of the charity and it is probable that those conditions will be
fulfilled in the reporting period.

Other trading activities comprise income from non-primary purpose activities to raise funds
for the charity.

Expenditure recognition
Liabilities are recognised as expenditure as soon as there is a legal or constructive obligation
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committing the charity to that expenditure, it is probable that settlement will be required
and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably. All expenditure is accounted for
on an accruals basis. All expenses including support costs and governance costs are allocated
or apportioned to the applicable expenditure headings.

Support costs have been allocated between governance costs and other support costs.
Governance costs comprise all costs involving the public accountability of the charity and its
compliance with regulation and good practice. These costs include costs related to the
independent examination and legal fees together with an apportionment of overhead and
support costs.

Cost of raising funds
The cost of raising funds comprises costs incurred in generating grant funding.

Expenditure on charitable activities
Expenditure on charitable activities include direct costs of provision of breastfeeding
support; governance costs and support costs.

Intangible fixed assets and amortisation
Intangible fixed assets comprise the cost of trademarking the name of the charity and is
amortised over 10 years, being its expected useful life.

2 Related parties and Trustees’ expenses
The trustees give their time and expertise freely, and without any remuneration; benefit in
cash or in kind; and the trustees do not claim expenses for personal costs incurred for the
charity.

The charity is run by volunteers and non-employee professionals on a non-formal basis, as
such there is no remuneration and thus no key management personnel.

3 Income
The charity offers free breastfeeding support as well as paid for private sessions as its
primary activities. The free provision is supported by voluntary donations from individuals
that use the service; trading activities from events and fundraisers and charitable grants
from government and other charities.

Unrestricted
funds

Restricted
income
funds

Total
funds

Notes £ £ £

Donations and gifts 11,019 1,205 12,224

Gift Aid 507 - 507
General grants provided by
government/other charities 4 11,496 10,760 22,256

Total 23,022 11,965 34,987

Baby Umbrella (Charity Reg: 1190745) Annual Report and Accounts 2020-21 35

44



4 Government and grants from other charities
Unrestricted grants from other charities include £9,996 received from National Lottery;
£1,000 received from Arnold Clark and £500 received from Cole Charitable Trust.

Restricted grants from government comprise £4,307 from Sevenoaks District Council.

Restricted grants from other charities comprise:

West Kent Extra 495
Involve Kent 917
Local Connections 1,541
Soroptimists 500
Comic Relief 2,000
Tesco Sevenoaks 1,000

5 Charitable activities – costs
The charity undertakes its charitable activities through use of Lactation Consultants,
Breastfeeding Counsellors, qualified volunteer Peer Supporters and volunteers.

Unrestricted
funds

Restricted
income
funds

Total
funds

Expenditure on charitable
activities: Notes £ £ £

Direct costs - practitioners 4,993 7,127 12,120

Direct costs - rent 580 1,615 2,195

Governance and support
costs 6 2,658 791 3,449
 

Total expenditure on
charitable activities 8,231 9,533 17,764
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6 Governance and support costs
Governance and support costs are allocated across restricted and unrestricted funds on a
usage basis.  No general apportionment is made across the two funds.

Unrestricted
funds

Restricted
income
funds

Total
funds

£ £ £

Bank charges 128 - 128

IT costs 298 11 309

Printing and stationery 364 - 364

Depreciation 24 - 24

Insurance 165 - 165

Office administration 1,189 285 1,474

Accountancy and independent
examiner 430 - 430

Legal and professional fees 60 50 110

Training - 445 445

Total expenditure on governance
and support costs 2,658 791 3,449
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7 Intangible fixed assets
Patents and
trademarks

Cost £

At beginning of the year -

Additions 320

At end of the year 320

Amortisation

At beginning of the year -

Amortisation 24

At end of year 24

Net book value at the beginning of the year -

Net book value at the end of the year 296

8 Creditors

Unrestricted
funds

Restricted
income
funds

Total
funds

£ £ £

Trade creditors 2,283 950 3,233

Accruals 180 - 180

Creditors: due within one year 2,463 950 3,413
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9 Analysis of restricted funds

 

Purpose and
Restrictions

Fund balances
brought
forward Income Expenditure Transfers

Gains
and

losses

Fund balances
carried
forward

£ £ £ £ £ £

West Kent Housing
Association

Online support - 495 495 - - -

Involve Connect
Well

Individual support
services

- 500 500 - - -

National Lottery
Local Connections

Online services, peer
supporter training

- 1,541 1,541 - - -

Soroptimists
Tunbridge Wells

Listening service project - 500 - - - 500

Involve Small
Community Group

Tunbridge Wells face to
face services

- 417 417 - - -

Sevenoaks District
Council

Sevenoaks face to face
services

- 4,307 3,382 - - 925

Comic Relief
Community Fund

Support services,
Training4

- 2,000 1,994 - - 6

Tesco Sevenoaks Sevenoaks face to face
services

- 1,000 - - - 1,000

Christ Church
Tunbridge Wells

Donation in kind of rent - 1,160 1,160 - - -

Hope Maguire Donation in kind of
admin support

- 45 45 - - -

Total Funds as per balance sheet - 11,965 9,534 - - 2,431

4 Face to Face groups and appointments, Zoom groups and appointments, Facebook support, Peer Support Training
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10 Analysis of unrestricted funds

 

Fund
balances
brought
forward Income Expenditure Transfers

Gains
and

losses

Fund
balances
carried
forward

£ £ £ £ £ £

 Unrestricted funds - 24,646 9,131 - - 15,515

Total Funds as per balance sheet - 24,646 9,131 - - 15,515
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Thank you to everyone who has supported the

work of Baby Umbrella this year. With your

support we’ve been able to make a huge

difference to hundreds of families in West Kent at

a time when they have been at their most

vulnerable.

www.babyumbrella.org.uk

Baby Umbrella

51 The Avenue

Tunbridge Wells

TN2 3FJ

Baby Umbrella Annual Report and Accounts 2020-21 covers the period 6 August 2020 to 31

August 2021.

Baby Umbrella is a registered charity 1190745. The name “Baby Umbrella” is a registered

trade mark. Copyright © Baby Umbrella 2021.
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Updated 29.06.21 

APPLICATION FOR GRANT AID 
NB – Grant recipients will be asked to provide a stand and or presentation at the 

Annual Town Meeting [Monday 14th March 2022 at 7pm] to demonstrate to the 

general public how the grant funds have been spent and the benefits accrued. 

A copy of the guidance notes for completing this form is attached.  You are advised to read this 

when completing the form. Please use BLOCK CAPITAL LETTERS 

PART 1 – YOUR ORGANISATION 

NAME OF ORGANISATION 

NAME OF CONTACT 

ADDRESS OF CONTACT 

POSTCODE

TELEPHONE NO:    DAYTIME  

EVENING   

EMAIL ADDRESS 

PLEASE OUTLINE BRIEFLY THE ACTIVITIES OF THE ORGANISATION 
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Updated 29.06.21 

PLEASE GIVE NUMBERS IN 

YOUR ORGANISATION WHO 

ARE 

A) PAID

B) VOLUNTEERS

C) SIZE OF Sevenoaks Town

Council

MEMBERSHIP/BENEFICIARIES

HOW MANY MEMBERS/BENEFICIARIES 

LIVE WITHIN SEVENOAKS TOWN 

[See Guidance Notes] 

PART 2 – GRANT REQUEST 

AMOUNT OF GRANT APPLIED FOR  

PLEASE DESCRIBE YOUR PROJECT 

PLEASE EXPLAIN FOR WHAT AND WHEN YOU WILL BE USING THE GRANT 

DOES YOUR PROJECT COVER A GEOGRAPHICAL AREA BEYOND THE PARISH OF 

SEVENOAKS TOWN COUNCIL?  See map attached at the back of this form        Yes / No 

IF YES, HAVE YOU ALSO CONTACTED THE RESPECTIVE PARISH COUNCILS OUTSIDE 

THE SEVENOAKS TOWN WARDS FOR GRANT FUNDING?   Yes / No 

PLEASE PROVIDE DETAILS OF WHICH OTHER PARISH COUNCILS YOU HAVE 

CONTACTED AND SUMS REQUESTED & AWARDED: 

PART 3 – GEOGRAPHICAL AREA RELATING TO FUNDS REQUESTED 

£ 
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Updated 29.06.21 

PART 4 – TO BE COMPLETED BY ALL APPLICANTS 

 

HAS YOUR ORGANISATION APPLIED ELSEWHERE  

FOR A GRANT FOR THIS PROJECT 

 

IF YES, PLEASE GIVE DETAILS 

 

 

 

 

 

YOU ARE INVITED TO GIVE ANY ADDITIONAL INFORMATION WHICH MIGHT 

ASSIST THE COUNCIL IN CONSIDERING THE APPLICATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PLEASE STATE BALANCES IN HAND AT   

END OF LAST FINANCIAL YEAR 

 

HOW MANY MONTHS OPERATING COSTS  

DOES THIS REPRESENT? 

 

HOW MUCH HAS THE GROUP RAISED    

THROUGH ITS OWN EFFORTS 

EG. FUNDRAISING DURING THE LAST YEAR? 

 

PLEASE GIVE DETAILS OF ANY PREVIOUS GRANT AWARDS MADE BY SEVENOAKS 

TOWN COUNCIL INCLUDING THE YEARS IN WHICH THE GRANTS WERE MADE, 
THE AMOUNT AND WHETHER THEY WERE FOR CAPITAL OR REVENUE 

EXPENDITURE. 

 

 

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

YES/NO 
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Updated 29.06.21 

PLEASE ENSURE ALL RELEVANT DOCUMENTATION IS ENCLOSED 

WITH THIS APPLICATION 

CHECKLIST 

 
All relevant parts of the form completed  
Form signed  
Audited accounts for the last two years  
Annual Report if available (or Project or Business Plan for a new organisation)  

 
DO YOU HAVE A WRITTEN CONSTITUTION?   
(THE COUNCIL RESERVES THE RIGHT TO ASK FOR A COPY) 

YES/NO 

 
Copies of this completed form and any supporting papers will appear on a Council 

Agenda and will be discussed by Council in the presence of press and public. 
 

 

I DECLARE THAT TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE AND BELIEF THE ABOVE 

INFORMATION IS CORRECT.  I AGREE THAT IF A GRANT IS AWARDED*, I WILL 

SUBMIT A BRIEF REPORT CONFIRMING HOW THE MONEY HAS BEEN SPENT 
AND EXPLAINING WHAT DIFFERENCE THE GRANT MADE.  PHOTOS WILL BE 

SENT IF POSSIBLE. 

 

I UNDERSTAND THAT I CONFORM TO THE GUIDELINES SET OUT IN THE 

GUIDANCE NOTES AND HAVE READ AND SUBMITTED MY 

APPLICATION IN ACCORDANCE WITH PART 2 OF THE GUIDANCE 

NOTES. 

 

SIGNATURE                                       DATE 

 

NAME AND POSITION IN ORGANISATION: 

IN CAPITALS PLEASE 

 
* IN THE EVENT OF A SUCCESSFUL GRANT AID APPLICATION, TO  

WHOM SHOULD A CHEQUE BE MADE PAYABLE AND ADDRESS TO 

SENT TO? 

 

All Application Forms must be signed (electronic signature acceptable). 

Please return this form to Alison Futtit, Sevenoaks Town Council, Council Offices, 

Bradbourne Vale Road, Sevenoaks, Kent TN13 3QG by the: 

• 2nd Friday in August [13thAugust 2021] for the September Finance and 

General Purposes Grant Committee 

• 2ND Friday in January [14th January 2022] for the February Finance and 

General Purposes Grant Committee  

NB Late applications will be reviewed at the following Grants meeting! 

Application Forms are also available by email from: council@sevenoakstown.gov.uk  

If you have any queries, please contact Alison Futtit on 01732 459953. 
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SEVENOAKS CHRISTIAN COUNSELLING SERVICE 
OPERATING AS SEVENOAKS COUNSELLING 
DIRECTORS' REPORT   
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JANUARY 2022 

- 1 - 

The directors present their  annual  report and financial statements for the year ended 31 January 2022. 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 1 to the 
financial statements and comply with the charity's  memorandum and articles of association , the Companies Act 
2006 and “Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities 
preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland (FRS 102)” (as amended for accounting periods commencing from 1 January 2019) . 

Objectives and activities 
The  charity 's main object is to advance the Christian religion by establishing and carrying on a service of 
counselling based solely on Christian doctrines, principles and faith. The policies adopted in furtherance of these 
objects are to provide a service of counselling and training in counselling based on Christian doctrines, principles 
and faith, in Sevenoaks and the surrounding district and there has been no change in these during the year.  

The directors have paid due regard to guidance issued by the Charity Commission in deciding what activities the 
charity should undertake to ensure that the Charity operates for the public benefit. 

Achievements and performance 
The activities of Sevenoaks Counselling during 2021-22 continued to be affected by COVID. As a result of 
various social restrictions only a small proportion of sessions could be offered face-to-face. Nor were we able to 
offer any training courses. However, we were able to offer continued counselling remotely to those clients who 
were willing to accept it. Overall the number of sessions we were able to schedule during the year was slightly 
higher than in the previous year, though not quite up to pre-COVID levels.  

COVID restrictions and other economic factors led to some clients experiencing additional financial problems, 
and as we only ask clients to contribute what they can afford, some clients had to reduce their financial 
contributions. Others however responded well to our request to raise their contributions. As a result, the level of 
client contributions in relation to scheduled sessions unexpectedly rose slightly compared with the previous year. 

Nevertheless, total financial contributions from clients only covered some 75% of the cost of running the service. 
This is a level rarely exceeded, and we rely on donations and local authority grants to make up the shortfall. 
Although donations were some £6k lower than in the previous year (primarily because of a significant one-off 
individual gift that year) they were sufficient, together with grants totalling £2.5k, to enable us to cover costs, with 
a small surplus of less than £1k. 

We are grateful to churches and individuals for their continuing support, financial and prayerful. In particular we 
are heavily dependent on the generosity of Christ Church URC, who allow us to use their premises rent free for 
administration and counselling purposes.  

We are confident that we continue to provide a service for the public benefit, and the continued support of both 
Sevenoaks Town Council and Sevenoaks District Council, in the form of annual grants, indicates that the local 
authorities also perceive this to be the case. 

We currently employ one part time member of staff: a Head of Counselling working 52 hours a month. For the 
efficient running of the service we rely on a team of dedicated volunteers working in the office, taking phone calls 
and dealing with messages and emails. We are in the process of reviewing our administrative procedures with 
the aim of moving towards fully online systems.  

We anticipate that the coming year will pose further financial challenges, including the potential cost of 
developing the online administrative systems noted above. We therefore anticipate recording a deficit in the 
order of £10k in 2022-23. Nevertheless, our financial reserves are such that we are confident that we will be able 
to continue as a going concern for at least the coming twelve months. 

Financial review 
The results of the year show a surplus of £734 ( 2021-  £491 deficit).  
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SEVENOAKS CHRISTIAN COUNSELLING SERVICE 
OPERATING AS SEVENOAKS COUNSELLING 
DIRECTORS' REPORT  (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JANUARY 2022 

- 2 - 

It is the policy of the charity that unrestricted funds which have not been designated for a specific use should be 
maintained at a level equivalent to a minimum of two month’s expenditure which would have amounted to around 
£16,000 for the year under review. The directors consider that reserves at this level will ensure that, in the event 
of a significant drop in funding, they will be able to continue the charity’s current activities while consideration is 
given to ways in which additional funds may be raised. The reserves at the end of the year were £59,482 which 
would cover approximately 8 months expenditure. The trustees do not consider that reserves at this level are 
excessive. In fact, in the light of the Covid 19 pandemic, reserves at this level will enable the charity to cover 
fixed overheads should income fall. The trustees do not  expect significant reductions in donated income and 
counsellors are only paid for sessions undertaken so in the event that counselling sessions reduce, payments to 
counsellors will also reduce.  

The directors have assessed the major risks to which the charity is exposed, and are satisfied that systems are 
in place to mitigate exposure to the major risks. 

Structure, governance and management 
The charity is a company limited by guarantee. 

The directors who served during the year  and up to the date of signature of the financial statements  were: 
Wendy Billington (Resigned 23 November 2021) 
Gill Clayton 
Stephen Day 
Chris Stiven 
Dr Mary Wright 
Rev Anne Bourne 
Dr Esther Cheesman 
Hilary Clarkson (Appointed 11 March 2022) 
Lucinda Wright (Appointed 10 May 2022) 

Directors are appointed by the members in annual general meeting although existing directors may make a 
temporary appointment during the year to fill a vacancy. One third of the directors retire by rotation each year and 
are automatically re-appointed unless it is expressly resolved to fill the vacated office with another appointee. 
Members are elected by the directors. 

None of the directors has any beneficial interest in the company. All of the directors are members of the company 
and guarantee to contribute £10 in the event of a winding up.  

Reference and administrative  information is provided on the page following the cover sheet. 

The directors'  r eport was approved by the Board of   Directors. 

Chris Stiven 
Director 

10 May 2022 
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SEVENOAKS CHRISTIAN COUNSELLING SERVICE 
OPERATING AS SEVENOAKS COUNSELLING 
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES   
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JANUARY 2022 

- 3 - 

The directors, who also act as trustees for the charitable activities of Sevenoaks Christian Counselling Service,  
are responsible for preparing the Directors' Report and the accounts in accordance with applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

Company Law requires the directors to prepare accounts for each financial year which give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the charity and of the incoming resources and application of resources, including the 
income and expenditure, of the charitable company for that year. 

In preparing these accounts, the directors are required to: 

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

- observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP; 

- make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;  

- state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the accounts; and 

- prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charity will 
continue in operation. 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at 
any time the financial position of the charity and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the 
Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charity and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
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OPERATING AS SEVENOAKS COUNSELLING 
INDEPENDENT EXAMINER'S REPORT  
TO THE DIRECTORS OF SEVENOAKS CHRISTIAN COUNSELLING SERVICE 

- 4 - 

I report to the directors on my examination of the financial statements of Sevenoaks Christian Counselling 
Service (the charity) for the year ended 31 January 2022. 

Responsibilities and basis of report 
As the directors of the charity (and also its directors for the purposes of company law) you are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 (the 
2006 Act). 

Having satisfied myself that the financial statements of the charity are not required to be audited under Part 16 of 
the 2006 Act and are eligible for independent examination,  I report in respect of my examination of the charity’s 
financial statements carried out under section 145 of the Charities Act 2011 (the 2011 Act) .  In carrying out my 
examination I have followed all the applicable Directions given by the Charity Commission under section 145(5)
(b) of the 2011 Act. 

Independent examiner's statement 
 I have completed my examination. I confirm that no matters have come to my attention in connection with the 
examination giving me cause to believe that in any material respect: 
1 accounting records were not kept in respect of the charity as required by section 386 of the 2006 Act; or 
2 the financial statements do not accord with those records; or 
3 the   financial statements do not comply with the accounting requirements of section 396 of the 2006 Act 

other than any requirement that the accounts give a true and fair view which is not a matter considered as 
part of an independent examination; or 

4 the  financial statements  have not been prepared in accordance with the methods and principles of the 
Statement of Recommended Practice for accounting and reporting by charities applicable to charities 
preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland (FRS 102). 

I have no concerns and have come across no other matters in connection with the examination to which attention 
should be drawn in this report in order to enable a proper understanding of the  financial statements  to be 
reached. 

Nigel Hewson FCA DChA 

Hewsons 
Chartered Accountants 
80 Woodhurst Avenue 
Orpington 
Kent 
BR5 1AT 

Dated: 7 July 2022 
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Unrestricted Unrestricted 
funds funds 
2022 2021 

Notes £ £ 
Income from: 
Donations and legacies 2 24,340 30,432 
C haritable activities 3 70,237 63,812 
Investments 4 5 46 

Total income 94,582 94,290 

Expenditure on: 
Charitable activities 5 93,848 94,781 

Net income/(expenditure) for the year/ 
Net movement in funds 734 (491) 

Fund balances at 1 February 2021 58,748 59,239 

Fund balances at 31 January 2022 59,482 58,748 

The statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year. 

All income and expenditure derive from continuing activities. 

The statement of financial activities also complies with the requirements for an income and expenditure account 
under the Companies Act 2006. 
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2022 2021 
Notes £ £ £ £ 

Current assets 
Debtors 11 1,526 3,405 
Cash at bank and in hand 64,240 62,611 

65,766 66,016 
Creditors: amounts falling due within 
one year 12 (6,284) (7,268) 

Net current assets 59,482 58,748 

Income funds 
Unrestricted funds 59,482 58,748 

59,482 58,748 

The company is entitled to the exemption from the audit requirement contained in section 477 of the Companies 
Act 2006, for the year ended 31 January 2022. 

The  directors acknowledge their  responsibilities for ensuring that the  charity  keeps accounting records which 
comply with section 386 of the Act and for preparing accounts which give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the company as at the end of the financial year and of its incoming resources and application of 
resources, including its income and expenditure, for the financial year in accordance with the requirements of 
sections 394 and 395 and which otherwise comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 relating to 
accounts, so far as applicable to the company. 

The members have not required the company to obtain an audit of its financial statements for the year in 
question in accordance with section 476. 

The financial statements were approved by the Directors on 10 May 2022 

Chris Stiven 
Trustee 

Company registration number 01764440 
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OPERATING AS SEVENOAKS COUNSELLING 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JANUARY 2022 
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1 Accounting policies 

Charity information 
Sevenoaks Christian Counselling Service is a private company limited by guarantee incorporated in 
England and Wales. The registered office is Littlecourt Road, Sevenoaks, Kent. 

1.1 Accounting convention 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the charity's memorandum and articles of 
association, the Companies Act 2006 and "Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of 
Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2019)". 
The charity is a Public Benefit Entity as defined by FRS 102. 

The charity has taken advantage of the provisions in the SORP for charities applying FRS 102 Update 
Bulletin 1 not to prepare a Statement of Cash Flows. 

The  financial statements  are prepared in  sterling , which is the functional currency of the  charity .  Monetary 
a mounts  in these financial statements are  rounded to the nearest £. 

The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified, where applicable, to 
include certain financial instruments at fair value. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out 
below. 

1.2 Going concern 
The directors have considered the charity's day to day cash flow requirements and have a reasonable 
expectation that the charity has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for at least 12 
months from the date of signing of these accounts. Accordingly, they continue to adopt that going concern 
basis in preparing the annual report and financial statements.  This assessment is undertaken in light of the 
recent developments arising from the coronavirus (COVID19) pandemic. The charity does not expect 
significant reductions in donated income and counsellors are only paid for sessions undertaken so in the 
event that counselling sessions reduce payments to counsellors will also reduce. The trustees believe that 
they have sufficient reserves to meet fixed expenses for the 12 months from the signing of these accounts. 

1.3 Charitable funds 
Unrestricted funds are available for use at the discretion of the directors in furtherance of their charitable 
objectives. 

1.4 Income 
Income is recognised when the charity is legally entitled to it after any performance conditions have been 
met, the amounts can be measured reliably, and it is probable that income will be received. 

Cash donations are recognised on receipt. Other donations are recognised once the charity has been 
notified of the donation, unless performance conditions require deferral of the amount. Income tax 
recoverable in relation to donations received under Gift Aid is recognised at the time of the donation. 

Legacies are recognised on receipt or otherwise if the charity has been notified of an impending 
distribution, the amount is known, and receipt is expected. If the amount is not known, the legacy is treated 
as a contingent asset. 
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In accordance with the Charities SORP   (FRS 102), general volunteer time is not recognised  in these 
accounts. More information about the contribution of volunteers is provided in the trustees report. 

The value of facilities provided to the charity at a peppercorn rent is not recognised in these accounts as it 
cannot be measured reliably. However, donations to Christ Church Sevenoaks who make the facilities 
available is disclosed in the notes to the accounts. 

1.5 Expenditure 
Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to make a payment to a third 
party, it is probable that settlement will be required and the amount of the obligation can be measured 
reliably. 

Support costs are those functions that assist the work of the charity but do not directly undertake charitable 
activities including office costs and governance costs. 

1.6 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are 
shown within borrowings in current liabilities. 

1.7 Financial instruments 
The  charity  only has financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind that qualify as basic   financial 
instruments. Basic financial instruments are initially recognised at transaction value   and subsequently 
measured at their settlement value with the exception of bank loans which   are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

1.8 Employee benefits 
The cost of any unused holiday entitlement is recognised in the period in which the employee’s services 
are received. 

Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an expense when the  charity  is demonstrably 
committed to terminate the employment of an employee or to provide termination benefits. 

1.9 Retirement benefits 
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due. 

2 Donations and legacies 

Unrestricted Unrestricted 
funds funds 

2022 2021 
£ £ 

Donations and gifts 21,840 27,932 
Grants receivable 2,500 2,500 

24,340 30,432 

71



SEVENOAKS CHRISTIAN COUNSELLING SERVICE 
OPERATING AS SEVENOAKS COUNSELLING 
NOTES TO THE  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JANUARY 2022 

- 9 - 

3 C haritable activities 

Counselling 
and training 

courses 

Counselling 
and training 

courses 
2022 2021 

£ £ 

Client contributions 70,237 63,812 

4 Investments 

Unrestricted Unrestricted 
funds funds 

2022 2021 
£ £ 

Interest receivable 5 46 

5 Charitable activities 

Counselling 
and training 

Counselling 
and training 

2022 2021 
£ £ 

Counsellors fees 59,729 58,610 
Training, supervision and expenses 8,768 9,843 
Premises costs 1,762 2,135 
Costs of running courses - 195 

70,259 70,783 

Grant funding of activities (see note 7) 2,000 2,000 

Share of support costs (see note 8) 20,689 20,918 
Share of governance costs (see note 8) 900 1,080 

93,848 94,781 

6 Description of charitable activities 

Counselling and training 
The charity operates a counselling service and provides training courses for counsellors. The operations 
are accounted for as a single activity. 
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7 Grants payable 

The donation of £2,000 ( 2021-  £2,000) was made to Christ Church Sevenoaks URC. 

8 Support costs 
Support 

costs 
Governance 

costs 
2022 Support 

costs 
Governance 

costs 
2021 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

Staff costs 16,800 - 16,800 16,800 - 16,800 
Office  &  administration 3,889 - 3,889 4,118 - 4,118 

Legal and professional - 900 900 - 1,080 1,080 

20,689 900 21,589 20,918 1,080 21,998 

Legal and professional fees include amounts payable to the independent examiner of £900 ( 2021-   £1,000) 
plus an under provision for the previous year of £nil ( 2021-  £80) in connection with their report and 
preparation of statutory accounts. 

9 Directors 

None of the directors (or any persons connected with them) received any remuneration or expenses during 
the year other than the wife of Stephen Day who received £666 ( 2021-  £4,075) in fees and expenses for 
counselling services provided to the charity. 

Donations received from trustees amounted to £1,452 ( 2021-  £1,602). 

10 Employees 

Number of employees 
The average monthly headcount during the year was: 

2022 2021 
Number Number 

Supervision and administration 1 1 

Employment costs 2022 2021 
£ £ 

Wages and salaries 16,000 16,000 
Other pension costs 800 800 

16,800 16,800 

There were no employees whose annual remuneration was £60,000 or more. 
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11 Debtors 
2022 2021 

Amounts falling due within one year: £ £ 

Other debtors 1,139 3,056 
Prepayments and accrued income 387 349 

1,526 3,405 

12 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 
2022 2021 

£ £ 

Other creditors 3,083 5,098 
Accruals and deferred income 3,201 2,170 

6,284 7,268 

13 Retirement benefit schemes 

The charge to the statement of financial activities in respect of defined contribution schemes was £800 
( 2021-  £800) 

14 Related party transactions 

Transactions with trustees (directors) are disclosed in note 10. 

Remuneration of key management personnel 
The remuneration of key management personnel is as follows. 

2022 2021 
£ £ 

Aggregate compensation 16,800 16,800 
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The directors present their report and financial statements for the year ended 31 January 2021. 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 1 to 
the financial statements and comply with the charity's  memorandum and articles of association , the 
Companies Act 2006 and “Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice 
applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102)” (as amended for accounting periods commencing 
from 1 January 2019) 

Objectives and activities 
The charity's main object is to advance the Christian religion by establishing and carrying on a service of 
counselling based solely on Christian doctrines, principles and faith. The policies adopted in furtherance of 
these objects are to provide a service of counselling and training in counselling based on Christian doctrines, 
principles and faith, in Sevenoaks and the surrounding district and there has been no change in these during 
the year.  

The directors have paid due regard to guidance issued by the Charity Commission in deciding what activities 
the charity should undertake to ensure that the Charity operates for the public benefit. 

Achievements and performance 
The activities of Sevenoaks Counselling during 2020-21 were significantly affected by COVID. Successive 
lockdowns and other social restrictions meant that no face-to-face interactions were possible during the great 
majority of the period. As a result we were not able to offer any training courses. However, after our therapists 
had undergone additional professional training, we were able to offer continued counselling remotely – by 
telephone or video conference – to those clients who were willing to accept it. We are pleased to note that 
overall the number of sessions we were able to schedule during the year was only slightly reduced from the 
previous year.  

There were also financial challenges. In past years most contributions from clients had been made in person 
by cash, cheque or card. These means of payment had to be almost entirely replaced by online bank transfer, 
which posed problems for some clients initially. For Sevenoaks Counselling itself, the challenge was to 
establish and maintain a system to keep track of online sessions, and of bank transfers expected and 
received. COVID restrictions also led to some clients experiencing additional financial problems. In spite of all 
this, the level of client contributions in relation to scheduled sessions fell only slightly compared with the 
previous year. 

Having said that, it has been our experience over the years that total financial contributions from clients rarely 
exceed 75% of the annual cost of running the service. We therefore rely on donations to make up the shortfall. 
Last year this percentage dropped to around 66%, and although donations rose – boosted by a significant 
one-off individual gift – we recorded a small deficit. 

We are grateful to churches and individuals for their continuing prayerful and financial support. In particular we 
are heavily dependent on the generosity of Christ Church URC, who allow us to use their premises rent free 
for administration and counselling purposes.  

We are confident that we continue to provide a service for the public benefit, and the continued support of 
both Sevenoaks Town Council and Sevenoaks District Council, in the form of annual grants, indicates that the 
local authorities also perceive this to be the case. 

We currently employ one part time member of staff: a Head of Counselling working 52 hours a month. For the 
efficient running of the service we normally rely on a team of dedicated volunteers working in the office, taking 
phone calls and dealing with messages and emails. The COVID restrictions have motivated us to review our 
administrative procedures with the aim of moving towards fully online systems.  
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We anticipate that the coming year will pose further financial challenges, not the least of these being the 
potential cost of developing the online administrative systems noted above. It is therefore likely that we will 
record a larger deficit in 2021-22. Nevertheless, our financial reserves are such that we are confident that we 
will be able to continue as a going concern for at least the coming twelve months. 

Financial review 
The results of the year show a deficit of £491 (2020: £6,121).  

It is the policy of the charity that unrestricted funds which have not been designated for a specific use should 
be maintained at a level equivalent to a minimum of two month’s expenditure which would have amounted to 
around £16,000 for the year under review. The directors consider that reserves at this level will ensure that, in 
the event of a significant drop in funding, they will be able to continue the charity’s current activities while 
consideration is given to ways in which additional funds may be raised. The reserves at the end of the year 
were £58,748 which would cover approximately 8 months expenditure. The trustees do not consider that 
reserves at this level are excessive. In fact, in the light of the Covid 19 pandemic, reserves at this level will 
enable the charity to cover fixed overheads should income fall. The trustees do not  expect significant 
reductions in donated income and counsellors are only paid for sessions undertaken so in the event that 
counselling sessions reduce, payments to counsellors will also reduce.  

The directors have assessed the major risks to which the charity is exposed, and are satisfied that systems 
are in place to mitigate exposure to the major risks. 

Structure, governance and management 
The charity is a company limited by guarantee. 

The directors who served during the year  and up to the date of signature of the financial statements  were: 
Wendy Billington 
Gill Clayton 
Stephen Day 
Chris Stiven 
Dr Mary Wright 
Rev Anne Bourne 
Clare Whittaker (Resigned 16 November 2020) 
Dr Esther Cheesman 

Directors are appointed by the members in annual general meeting although existing directors may make a 
temporary appointment during the year to fill a vacancy. One third of the directors retire by rotation each year 
and are automatically re-appointed unless it is expressly resolved to fill the vacated office with another 
appointee. Members are elected by the directors. 

None of the directors has any beneficial interest in the company. All of the directors are members of the 
company and guarantee to contribute £10 in the event of a winding up.  

Reference and administrative  information is provided on the page following the cover sheet. 

The directors' report was approved by the Board of directors on ........... 

Chris Stiven 
Director 
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The directors, who also act as trustees for the charitable activities of Sevenoaks Christian Counselling Service,  
are responsible for preparing the Directors' Report and the accounts in accordance with applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

Company Law requires the directors to prepare accounts for each financial year which give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the charity and of the incoming resources and application of resources, including the 
income and expenditure, of the charitable company for that year. 

In preparing these accounts, the directors are required to: 

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

- observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP; 

- make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;  and 

- prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charity will 
continue in operation. 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time the financial position of the charity and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the 
Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charity and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
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I report to the directors on my examination of the financial statements of Sevenoaks Christian Counselling 
Service (the charity) for the year ended 31 January 2021. 

Responsibilities and basis of report 
As the directors of the charity (and also its directors for the purposes of company law) you are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2006 (the 2006 Act). 

Having satisfied myself that the financial statements of the charity are not required to be audited under Part 
16 of the 2006 Act and are eligible for independent examination,  I report in respect of my examination of the 
charity’s financial statements  carried out under section 145 of the Charities Act 2011 (the 2011 Act) .  In 
carrying out my examination I have followed all the applicable Directions given by the Charity Commission 
under section 145(5)(b) of the 2011 Act. 

Independent examiner's statement 
 I have completed my examination. I confirm that no matters have come to my attention in connection with 
the examination giving me cause to believe that in any material respect: 
1 accounting records were not kept in respect of the charity as required by section 386 of the 2006 Act; 

or 
2 the financial statements do not accord with those records; or 
3 the  financial statements  do not comply with the accounting requirements of section 396 of the 2006 Act 

other than any requirement that the accounts give a true and fair view which is not a matter considered 
as part of an independent examination; or 

4 the  financial statements  have not been prepared in accordance with the methods and principles of the 
Statement of Recommended Practice for accounting and reporting by charities applicable to charities 
preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland (FRS 102). 

I have no concerns and have come across no other matters in connection with the examination to which 
attention should be drawn in this report in order to enable a proper understanding of the financial statements 
to be reached. 

Nigel Hewson FCA DChA 

Hewsons 
Chartered Accountants 
80 Woodhurst Avenue 
Orpington 
Kent 
BR5 1AT 

Dated: 1 June 2021 
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Unrestricted Unrestricted 
funds funds 
2021 2020 

Notes £ £ 
Income from: 
Donations and legacies 2 30,432 24,439 
C haritable activities 3 63,812 72,007 
Investments 4 46 88 

Total income 94,290 96,534 

Expenditure on: 
Charitable activities 5 94,781 102,655 

Net expenditure for the year/ 
Net movement in funds (491) (6,121) 

Fund balances at 1 February 2020 59,239 65,360 

Fund balances at 31 January 2021 58,748 59,239 

The statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year. 

All income and expenditure derive from continuing activities. 

The statement of financial activities also complies with the requirements for an income and expenditure account 
under the Companies Act 2006. 
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2021 2020 
Notes £ £ £ £ 

Current assets 
Debtors 11 3,405 1,793 
Cash at bank and in hand 62,611 68,083 

66,016 69,876 
Creditors: amounts falling due within 
one year 12 (7,268) (10,637) 

Net current assets 58,748 59,239 

Income funds 
Unrestricted funds 58,748 59,239 

58,748 59,239 

The company is entitled to the exemption from the audit requirement contained in section 477 of the Companies 
Act 2006, for the year ended 31 January 2021. 

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for ensuring that the  charity  keeps accounting records which 
comply with section 386 of the Act and for preparing accounts which give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the company as at the end of the financial year and of its incoming resources and application of 
resources, including its income and expenditure, for the financial year in accordance with the requirements of 
sections 394 and 395 and which otherwise comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 relating to 
accounts, so far as applicable to the company. 

The members have not required the company to obtain an audit of its financial statements for the year in 
question in accordance with section 476. 

The financial statements were approved by the Directors on 19 May 2021 

Chris Stiven 
Trustee 

Company Registration No. 01764440 
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1 Accounting policies 

Charity information 
Sevenoaks Christian Counselling Service is a private company limited by guarantee incorporated in 
England and Wales. The registered office is Littlecourt Road, Sevenoaks, Kent. 

1.1 Accounting convention 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the charity's [governing document], the 
Companies Act 2006 and "Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice 
applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2019)". The charity is a Public 
Benefit Entity as defined by FRS 102. 

The charity has taken advantage of the provisions in the SORP for charities applying FRS 102 Update 
Bulletin 1 not to prepare a Statement of Cash Flows. 

The financial statements are prepared in  sterling , which is the functional currency of the charity.  Monetary 
a mounts  in these financial statements are  rounded to the nearest £. 

The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified, where applicable, to 
include certain financial instruments at fair value. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out 
below. 

1.2 Going concern 
The directors have considered the charity's day to day cash flow requirements and have a reasonable 
expectation that the charity has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for at least 12 
months from the date of signing of these accounts. Accordingly, they continue to adopt that going concern 
basis in preparing the annual report and financial statements.  This assessment is undertaken in light of the 
recent developments arising from the coronavirus (COVID19) pandemic. The charity does not expect 
significant reductions in donated income and counsellors are only paid for sessions undertaken so in the 
event that counselling sessions reduce payments to counsellors will also reduce. The trustees believe that 
they have sufficient reserves to meet fixed expenses for the 12 months from the signing of these accounts. 

1.3 Charitable funds 
Unrestricted funds are available for use at the discretion of the directors in furtherance of their charitable 
objectives. 

1.4 Income 
Income is recognised when the charity is legally entitled to it after any performance conditions have been 
met, the amounts can be measured reliably, and it is probable that income will be received. 

Cash donations are recognised on receipt. Other donations are recognised once the charity has been 
notified of the donation, unless performance conditions require deferral of the amount. Income tax 
recoverable in relation to donations received under Gift Aid is recognised at the time of the donation. 

Legacies are recognised on receipt or otherwise if the charity has been notified of an impending 
distribution, the amount is known, and receipt is expected. If the amount is not known, the legacy is treated 
as a contingent asset. 
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In accordance with the Charities SORP   (FRS 102), general volunteer time is not recognised  in these 
accounts. More information about the contribution of volunteers is provided in the trustees report. 

The value of facilities provided to the charity at a peppercorn rent is not recognised in these accounts as it 
cannot be measured reliably. However, donations to Christ Church Sevenoaks who make the facilities 
available is disclosed in the notes to the accounts. 

1.5 Expenditure 
Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to make a payment to a third 
party, it is probable that settlement will be required and the amount of the obligation can be measured 
reliably. 

Support costs are those functions that assist the work of the charity but do not directly undertake charitable 
activities including office costs and governance costs. 

1.6 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are 
shown within borrowings in current liabilities. 

1.7 Financial instruments 
The  charity  only has financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind that qualify as basic   financial 
instruments. Basic financial instruments are initially recognised at transaction value   and subsequently 
measured at their settlement value with the exception of bank loans which   are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

1.8 Employee benefits 
The cost of any unused holiday entitlement is recognised in the period in which the employee’s services 
are received. 

Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an expense when the charity is demonstrably 
committed to terminate the employment of an employee or to provide termination benefits. 

1.9 Retirement benefits 
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due. 

85



SEVENOAKS CHRISTIAN COUNSELLING SERVICE 
OPERATING AS SEVENOAKS COUNSELLING 
NOTES TO THE  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JANUARY 2021 

- 9 - 

2 Donations and legacies 

Unrestricted Unrestricted 
funds funds 

2021 2020 
£ £ 

Donations and gifts 27,932 22,039 
Grants receivable 2,500 2,400 

30,432 24,439 

An amount of £417 received in the year to 31 January 2020 was received as agent, not as principal, for 
payment to a third party, is not included above. 

3 C haritable activities 

Counselling 
and training 

courses 

Counselling 
and training 

courses 
2021 2020 

£ £ 

Client contributions and income from courses 63,812 72,007 

4 Investments 

Unrestricted Unrestricted 
funds funds 

2021 2020 
£ £ 

Interest receivable 46 88 
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5 Charitable activities 

Counselling 
and training 

Counselling 
and training 

2021 2020 
£ £ 

Counsellors fees 58,610 60,569 
Training, supervision and expenses 9,843 9,705 
Premises costs 2,135 7,203 
Costs of running courses 195 1,978 

70,783 79,455 

Grant funding of activities (see note 7) 2,000 - 

Share of support costs (see note 8) 20,918 22,164 
Share of governance costs (see note 8) 1,080 1,036 

94,781 102,655 

6 Description of charitable activities 

Counselling and training 
The charity operates a counselling service and provides training courses for counsellors. The operations 
are accounted for as a single activity. 

7 Grants payable 

The donation of £2,000 (2020: £nil) was made to Christ Church Sevenoaks URC. The trustees had 
approved a further gift to Christ Church URC of £2,000, prior to 31 January 2021: however this was not 
paid until after the year end. 

8 Support costs 
Support 

costs 
Governance 

costs 
2021 Support 

costs 
Governance 

costs 
2020 

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

Staff costs 16,800 - 16,800 16,416 - 16,416 
Office  &  administration 4,118 - 4,118 5,748 - 5,748 

Legal and professional - 1,080 1,080 - 1,036 1,036 

20,918 1,080 21,998 22,164 1,036 23,200 

Legal and professional fees include amounts payable to the independent examiner of £1,000 (2020 
£1,000) plus an under provision for the previous year of £80 (2020: £36) in connection with their report and 
preparation of statutory accounts. 
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9 Directors 

None of the directors (or any persons connected with them) received any remuneration or expenses during 
the year other than the wife of Stephen Day who received £4,075 (2020: £6,747) in fees and expenses for 
counselling services provided to the charity. 

Donations received from trustees amounted to £1,602 (2020: £1,452). 

10 Employees 

Number of employees 
The average monthly headcount during the year was: 

2021 2020 
Number Number 

Supervision and administration 1 1 

Employment costs 2021 2020 
£ £ 

Wages and salaries 16,000 15,634 
Other pension costs 800 782 

16,800 16,416 

There were no employees whose annual remuneration was £60,000 or more. 

11 Debtors 
2021 2020 

Amounts falling due within one year: £ £ 

Other debtors 3,056 1,459 
Prepayments and accrued income 349 334 

3,405 1,793 

12 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 
2021 2020 

£ £ 

Other creditors 5,098 5,009 
Accruals and deferred income 2,170 5,628 

7,268 10,637 
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13 Retirement benefit schemes 

The charge to the statement of financial activities in respect of defined contribution schemes was £800  
(2020: £782) 

14 Related party transactions 

Transactions with trustees (directors) are disclosed in note 10. 

Remuneration of key management personnel 
The remuneration of key management personnel is as follows. 

2021 2020 
£ £ 

Aggregate compensation 16,800 16,416 
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	NAME OF ORGANISATION: Sevenoaks History Hub
	NAME OF CONTACT: Matthew Ball
	PLEASE OUTLINE BRIEFLY THE ACTIVITIES OF THE ORGANISATION: Sevenoaks History Hub exists to promote the understanding and appreciation of local history and the development of the public realm within Sevenoaks. The Hub provides free resources to members of the public including support for students and guided walks. The History Hub also provides help and support to other local organisations and residents. 
	Address Line 2: 
	phone (evening): 
	A PAID: 
	B VOLUNTEERS: 1
	C SIZE OF Sevenoaks Town Council MEMBERSHIPBENEFICIARIES: 
	HOW MANY MEMBERSBENEFICIARIES: The overwhelming majority of beneficiaries live within the town
	PLEASE DESCRIBE YOUR PROJECT: We are currently preparing a book for publication that aims to use historic photos and postcards of Sevenoaks to tell the story of the town. The project is, in part, an oral history one, and so members of the public have been invited to contribute memories to the book to illustrate the images and preserve this historic information. The book will include previously unseen images of the local area, as well as photos from private collections
	PLEASE EXPLAIN FOR WHAT AND WHEN YOU WILL BE USING THE GRANT: The grant will be used as a contribution to publishing (printing and design) costs, which will also be met by the author. Total costs (given rising costs of paper) are expected to be approximately £5,600
	CONTACTED AND SUMS REQUESTED  AWARDED: N/A The project does not extend beyond Sevenoaks
	fill_8: 2500
	YESNO: No
	IF YES PLEASE GIVE DETAILS: 
	ASSIST THE COUNCIL IN CONSIDERING THE APPLICATION: Sevenoaks History Hub is dedicated to researching and celebrating our rich local and social history throughout the town. We engage reisdents of all ages, providing free resources and talks. We also help other residents to engage with local history and genealogy (for instance in researching house or road history), giving advice and guidance. We also support the commemoration of major national anniversaries relevant to Sevenoaks such as WW2 and the Platinum Jubilee.
	PLEASE STATE BALANCES IN HAND AT: N/A
	HOW MANY MONTHS OPERATING COSTS: N/A
	HOW MUCH HAS THE GROUP RAISED: N/A
	EXPENDITURE: Previous grants have been received for publishing costs (of £2000 each) for two previous books: Sevenoaks War Memorial - the Men Remembered (2014) and Sevenoaks, the Great War and its Legacy (2018)
	All relevant parts of the form completed: 
	Form signed: 
	Audited accounts for the last two years: 
	Annual Report if available or Project or Business Plan for a new organisation: 
	YESNO_2: No
	Signed Date: 12/08/2022
	Text4: Matthew Ball, Founder


